**FILED**  
**01-03-2025**  
**CLERK OF WISCONSIN**  
**COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT IV  
APPEAL NO. 2024AP001944CR

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

vs.

REBECCA LEA KAMM,

Defendant-Appellant

---

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT REBECCA LEA KAMM

---

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION  
FILED JUNE 9, 2023  
IN CIRCUIT COURT FOR GRANT COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE ROBERT P. VANDEHEY, PRESIDING  
AND  
APPEAL FROM ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF  
FILED SEPTEMBER 17, 2024,  
IN CIRCUIT COURT FOR GRANT COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE CRAIG R. DAY, PRESIDING

TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 20-CM-26

---

Respectfully submitted,  
Daniel P. Ryan, SBN: 1011639

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the trial court err in allowing the State to use video evidence and testimony based on that evidence, when the video evidence was not disclosed to the defense within a reasonable time before trial?**

The trial court answered: No

- 2. Did Ms. Kamm's trial attorney preserve the objection to the admission of the video clips and testimony about the clips for appellate review.**

This issue was not addressed in the trial court.

- 3. Regardless of whether defense counsel sufficiently preserved the issue for appeal, a new trial should be granted, because the trial court's admission of the video clips as well as testimony about their contents was plain error.**

This issue was not addressed in the trial court.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Anticipating that counsels' briefs will adequately set forth the arguments regarding the issues on appeal, oral argument is not requested. Counsel does not request publication.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Description of the nature of the case.

This is a retail theft case in which the State failed to disclose crucial video surveillance evidence to the defense until the day the trial was to begin. The defense brought this to the attention of the court and objected. Rather than determining whether good cause existed for the State's failure

to timely disclose this evidence, the trial court allowed the defense a short time to review the video and allowed it to be entered into evidence at the trial. The defense was forced to try to incorporate this evidence into its case, without any time to prepare. The postconviction court erroneously ruled that the State had good cause for the untimely disclosure.

2. Statement of Facts

a. Criminal Complaint

On January 23, 2020, the State filed a Criminal Complaint charging Ms. Kamm with one count of misdemeanor retail theft (intentional taking no more than \$500). (2: 1) According to the probable cause section, a loss prevention manager at a Blain's Farm & Fleet retail store in Platteville, Wisconsin (hereinafter "Farm & Fleet") reported to police that after reviewing the store's security footage from November 24, 2019, he suspected that a customer had stolen a jacket valued at \$269.00. (2: 1-3) According to the footage, the female customer is seen with the jacket in her shopping cart as she entered the fitting room. (2: 1-3) Upon exiting the fitting room, the jacket no longer appeared to be in her shopping cart. (2: 1-3) The female customer later checked out, purchasing an unrelated item. (2: 1-3) According to the loss prevention manager, upon leaving the store, the female customer's "purse appear[ed] to be extremely full as she removed it from the shopping cart." (2: 1-3)

Police later identified the female customer as Ms. Kamm. A male customer, later identified as Kyle Woods, accompanied Ms. Kamm to the store. (2: 1-3)

b. Defendant's Discovery Demand

On February 18, 2020, Ms. Kamm filed and served a standard demand for discovery and inspection on the State pursuant to both Wis. Stat. § 971.23 and provisions of the state and federal constitution. (10: 1-4)

Among other items, it demanded that the State provide the following for inspection:

10. Any and all physical evidence that the state intends to offer in evidence at the trial, sec. 971.23(1)(g) Stats., as well as all other physical evidence within the possession, custody, or control of the state or its investigative agencies or agents.

11. Any exculpatory evidence, sec. 971.23(1)(h) Stats., including but not limited to the following:

a. All evidence and/or other information which would tend to negate the guilt of the defendant, including laboratory reports, hospital records or reports, police reports, or any other information within the state's possession, knowledge, or control. *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); *State v. Harris*, 2004 WI 64, 272 Wis. 2d 80, 680 N.W.2d 737; *State v. Ruiz*, 118 Wis. 2d 177, 347 N.W.2d 352 (1984); *Nelson v. State*, 59 Wis. 2d 474, 208 N.W.2d 410 (1973).

b. All evidence and/or other information which would tend to affect the weight or credibility of the evidence against the defendant, *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150 (1972); *State v. Harris*, 2004 WI 64, 272 Wis. 2d 80, 680 N.W.2d 737; *Ruiz v. State*, 75 Wis. 2d 230, 249 N.W.2d 277 (1977); including but not limited to the following: . . .

iv. Laboratory reports, hospital records or reports, police reports, or any other information within the state's possession, knowledge, or control, that would tend to affect the weight and credibility of evidence used against the defendant

c. Any evidence and/or other information which would tend to mitigate, extenuate, or affect the degree of the offense charged, or the disposition (including sentencing) of the charge against the defendant; *State v. Harris*, 2004 WI 64, 272 Wis. 2d 80, 680 N.W.2d 737; *Ruiz v. State*, 75 Wis. 2d 230, 249 N.W.2d 277 (1977).

d. Any evidence and/or other information which would form the basis for further investigation by the defense. *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); *State v. Harris*, 2004 WI 64, 272 Wis. 2d 80,

680 N.W.2d 737; Ruiz v. State, 75 Wis. 2d 230, 249 N.W.2d 277 (1977).

19. An inventory and copies of all books, papers, documents, photographs, and tangible objects related to this case that the state has within its possession, knowledge, or control or that were obtained from or belong to the defendant, together with the date, time, place, and manner in which these items were obtained, sec. 968.17, Stats.

22. Disclose the existence of any electronic evidence that is in the possession of the State, law enforcement agents or witnesses; or that reasonably could be preserved, retained and obtained by the State or its agents. This request includes but is not limited to squad camera recordings, 9-1-1 dispatch recordings, booking/interrogation room videos and recordings or any other electronic evidence related to the case. This demand includes a request to reasonably preserve all such electronic evidence in order that it may be inspected and copied by the defendant through the defendant's legal counsel. (10: 1-4)

c. Jury Trial

i. *Counsel's objection to non-disclosure of security footage*

The jury trial was convened on April 6, 2023. (71: 1-104) Before commencing jury selection, the Court asked the parties if it needed to take up any issues. (71: 4) Ms. Kamm's counsel, Mr. Paulson, stated that the defense had not received the security footage as part of discovery, leading to the following exchange, which included the State, by Mr. Pozorski, and the court:

MR. PAULSON: I do have maybe one just preliminary issue. I've been going through the discovery - you know, and Mr. Pozorski can certainly attest to this - but one of the potential witnesses on the State's witness list, I'm assuming that he - his testimony is based on some footage. I'm not sure if the State intends to admit that footage into the record, but if they do, the defense never received that footage, and so I just wanted to make the Court aware of that situation.

MR. POZORSKI: We turned over discovery.

MR. PAULSON: That's correct. We got discovery pages 1 through 18 and then various photographs but never the actual footage.

THE COURT: Yeah, and the footage is described in the complaint anyway and the other information, right, as far as what it shows?

MR. POZORSKI: Right.

THE COURT: But –

MR. PAULSON: Right, but just anticipation of that witness, if there is no video, I don't know if that video could be admitted without being shown to the witness.

THE COURT: Right. You would have the right to look at it. How long is it? If you want to look at it, we can probably arrange that before we bring the jury up.

MR. POZORSKI: Yeah. There is like seven or eight clips, and each one is probably on the average 30 seconds, I'd say, on the average. The longest one -- there is two longer ones. They are each about two minutes. The others would be measured in seconds.

THE COURT: So is -- I don't know if you got it or not. It sounds like the State intended to send it or sent it and it's somewhere, but you do have a right to see it. So if you want to review it, we can do that and delay bringing the jury up.

MR. PAULSON: I just don't know if this video, after seeing the footage, if it will affect the case and the way it will move forward.

THE COURT: All right. We'll –

MR. POZORSKI: The only thing I would say - and it's only for future reference - I mean when attorneys know that there is video footage because it's referenced in the report, they should give me a call and say, "Hey, where is the video footage?" And then I would say to Megan or Michele or Zach, "Hey, get that over to the defense attorney right away so we can be all ready to go on the same page."

THE COURT: And if he watches it from start to finish, how long will that take?

MR. POZORSKI: Shouldn't take more than five minutes.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. When you are finished, come back in. (71: 4-6)

Following this exchange, the State allowed trial counsel to access and view approximately ten short video clips—most being a few seconds long, and none longer than a couple of minutes—that were edited for use with the State's witness. (71: 7)

*ii. Relevant trial evidence*

At trial, the State called three witnesses: Tim Kelley (Farm & Fleet retail associate); Marc Johnson (Farm & Fleet loss prevention manager);

and Sgt. Paul Rehlinger (City of Platteville PD). (71: 41-69.)

Mr. Kelly, a Farm & Fleet retail associate, testified that he was working at around 5:20 p.m. on November 24, 2019, cleaning the fitting rooms, when he came across an empty box for a Milwaukee jacket that the store sells among scattered clothes. (71 : 41-43, 45.) Believing that the box looked out of place, he mentioned it to a co-worker, and a report was later prepared regarding the incident. (71: 42-43.)

Mr. Johnson, the Farm & Fleet loss prevention manager, testified that when a store within his district, including the Platteville store, reports a theft to him, he goes back and reviews the security video footage to determine what occurred. (71: 47.) He travelled to Platteville to review security footage when a member of Farm & Fleet's management notified him of a theft that allegedly occurred in the fitting room of the store on November 24, 2019. (71: 47-48.) He testified that:

. . . I reviewed a video camera that sits over our fitting room, and I observed a female subject enter our fitting room with a box that contained a Milwaukee jacket. A short time later the female exited the fitting room. The jacket was no longer in the shopping cart. An associate later came and checked the fitting room and came out of the fitting room with the empty Milwaukee jacket box.

I was able to go back further on video, I was able to find a male and female subject enter our store, go over to our power tool department, actually select the jacket, put it in a shopping cart, then following through the stores when I found the female enter and exit the fitting room.

I then observed the female go up to the register where she made a purchase, but she did not purchase the Milwaukee jacket. The female then exited the store without paying for the jacket, exited the store and got into a vehicle that the male was driving, and they left the store (71: 48-49)

Mr. Johnson stated that based on his review of the footage, the female shopper, later identified as Ms. Kamm, entered the fitting room at 11:52 a.m. and exited at 12:10 p.m. (71: 49.) The prosecutor then played a series of video clips of the security footage, marked as trial exhibit 1, about which Mr. Johnson gave the following testimony:

\*Clip #1 (“Male Enters”): The male enters the store one minute before the female enters. (71: 50.)

\*Clip #2 (“Female Enters”): Ms. Kamm enters the store approximately one minute after the male. (71: 51.)

\*Clip #3 (“Jacket Selection”): At 11:03 a.m., the male enters the power tool department, followed by Ms. Kamm at 11:04 a.m. The male, eventually joined by Ms. Kamm, looks over the Milwaukee heated jackets, and Ms. Kamm picks out one of them and places it in her cart. They then exit the department. (71: 51-52.) Mr. Johnson testified that the jacket retailed for \$269.00. (71: 52.)

\*Clip #4 (“Enters Fitting Room”): At 11:52 a.m., Ms. Kamm enters the fitting room with her cart, which contains the Milwaukee jacket box. (71: 52)(1)

\*Clip #5 (“Exits Fitting Room”): Ms. Kamm exits the fitting room at 12:10 p.m.; the Milwaukee jacket box is no longer in her cart. (71: 52-53)(1)

\*Clip #6 (“Female Purchases”): At approximately 12:56 p.m., Ms. Kamm purchases a construction set in cash but did not pay for a Milwaukee heated jacket. (71: 53.) (1)

\*Clip #7 (“Male Exits”): The male shopper exits while wearing a Milwaukee heated jacket underneath the jacket he was already wearing. (Id.) Mr. Johnson contended that the male also stole a Milwaukee jacket as evidenced by a second empty box that employees found in the shoe department. (Id.) He clarified on cross-examination that “[w]e did not have any footage of that particular area where that [second] box was found” or footage otherwise showing the male putting on the second jacket. (71: 53.)(1)

\*Clip #8 (“Female Exits”): Ms. Kamm exits the store at 12:57 p.m. According to Mr. Johnson, “it appears that her purse is much larger now than when she entered the store.” (71: 54)(1)

\*Clip #9 (“Car in Park Lot”): Ms. Kamm is picked up by the male whose car is parked in front of the store. (71: 55)(1)

\*Clip #10 (“Car Shot Two”): Same as above, just from a different angle. (71:55)(1)

It should be noted that when this witness refers to “the fitting room”, he is referring to the area of the store where the fitting rooms are located. (71: 59-60) He is not referring to the actual private fitting rooms, where

cameras are not present. (71: 59-60) The State did not make this important distinction clear on direct examination. (71: 49-50) On cross examination, the defense pointed it out. (71: 59-60)

Sgt. Rehlinger with the Platteville PD then testified. (71: 65.) He stated that on December 23, 2019, he met with Mr. Johnson about the theft. (71: 65-66.) They reviewed video footage and photographs. (71: 66.) Eventually, through his investigation, Sgt. Rehlinger was able to identify the male and female shoppers as Kyle Woods and Rebecca Kamm. (71: 66-68.)

Ms. Kamm testified on her own behalf and denied taking the jacket. (71: 75.) She stated that at around 11:00 a.m. on November 24, 2019, she went to Farm & Fleet with Kyle Woods, a friend, as she was looking for Christmas gift ideas. (71: 75-76.) She testified that according to the footage played earlier to the jury, at one point, Mr. Woods took the Milwaukee jacket box out of her cart and placed it into his. (71: 76.) She eventually went to the fitting room area, but she did not actually enter any of the fitting rooms. (71: 76-77.) Mr. Woods was already in a fitting room at the time, and he remained there until she exited the fitting room area and continued shopping. (71: 77-78.) Eventually, she purchased a two-in-one construction set for her son and left, testifying that it was the only item she had when she left the store. (71: 78.)

She testified that before entering the fitting room area, she considered buying the jacket for her older son but decided not to do so once she was in the fitting area. While in the fitting room area, she removed the box containing the jacket from her cart and left it there. (71: 79- 81.) She explained that her purse looked so full because it is a big purse that becomes larger when it's lifted up and fully extended. (71: 79-80.)

*iii. Verdict, judgment, and sentence*

The jury returned a guilty verdict on count one, misdemeanor theft.

(71: 99-101) (41) A judgment was entered on the verdict, and Ms. Kamm was sentenced to 10 days of jail time. (65: 12)(61) (App. 1-2)

*iv. Postconviction proceedings*

Appellate counsel for Ms. Kamm filed a motion for postconviction relief and a trial court brief. (79) The motion requested a new trial based on violations of the Due Process clause and the discovery statute (Wis. Stats. Sec. 971.23) for the State's failure to disclose video evidence. (79) (80: 1-14) The trial court scheduled a hearing on the motion.

At the motion hearing, the court initially focused on the State's failure to disclose (1) 5 ½ hours of videotape that was never disclosed, and (2) the 10 clips that were entered into evidence at trial. The State admitted that it had failed to disclose the video footage:

"Now, Attorney Paulson -- right? Attorney Paulson says, well, you know, I had the paper material, but I didn't have the rest. Well, that can be easily explained in the sense that our office must have forgot to send them a copy of the disc. We sent them the paper, but we didn't send them a disc. So I'm not going to say he had it. I'm going to say I assumed he had discovery. But when he says he didn't get a copy of a disc, he didn't get a copy of the disc." (107: 10-11)

The trial court ordered further briefing. (107: 28) Trial counsel's supplemental brief focused on the State's late disclosure of the 10 video clips entered at trial and testified to by the loss prevention officer. (89: 1-14) The court wrote a letter shortly after receiving trial counsel's supplemental brief. (90: 1-2) The letter also focused on the State's failure to timely disclose the 10 video clips. (90: 1-2) In the letter, the court strongly suggested that it was poised to overturn the conviction. (90: 1-2) To summarize the letter, the failure to timely disclose the video clips was without good cause and was prejudicial to the defense. (90: 1-2) The State filed a brief in response to the court's letter, after which a hearing was scheduled for the court make an oral ruling. (94: 1-2) (100)

In its oral ruling, the postconviction court reversed its apparent intention to grant a new trial and denied the postconviction motion. (111: 1-10) (102) (App. 5-12) While the court discussed whether the video clips were timely disclosed, it did not ultimately make a determination on that issue. (111: 4-5, 7-8) (App. 6-7, 9-10) Instead, the postconviction court based its denial of the motion on a determination that, if the disclosure was untimely, there was good cause for the untimely disclosure. (111: 7-8) (App. 9-10)

Ms. Kamm appeals from the judgment of conviction and the denial of her postconviction motions for a new trial.

### **ARGUMENT**

1. **The trial court erred in allowing the State to use video evidence and testimony based on that evidence, when the video evidence was not disclosed to the defense within a reasonable time before trial.**

- a. Standard of Review

Whether the State violated its discovery obligations, thus entitling the defense to a new trial is an issue of law that is subject to de novo appellate review. *State vs. Delao*, 2002 WI 49, 252 Wis.2d 289, ¶ 14. Whether the State has shown good cause for the failure to comply with the statute, and whether the defendant was prejudiced by the violation are also questions of law that are reviewed by appellate court de novo. *State vs. Harris*, 2008 WI 15, 307 Wis. 2d 555, ¶ 15.

- b. The State Violated Wis. Stat. § 971.23(1) When It Failed to Timely Disclose the 10 Clips of Security Footage Before Trial

Wis. Stats. Sec. 971.23 requires the following:

(1) Upon demand, the district attorney shall, within a reasonable time before trial, disclose to the defendant or his or her attorney and permit the defendant or his or her attorney to inspect and copy or photograph all of the following materials and information, if it is within the possession, custody or control of the state . . .

(g) Any physical evidence that the district attorney intends to offer in evidence at the trial.

(h) Any exculpatory evidence

*Wis. Stats. Sec. 971.23(1)(g)(h).*

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