FILED  
01-17-2025  
CLERK OF WISCONSIN  
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT IV  
APPEAL NO. 2024AP001944CR

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,  
Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

REBECCA LEA KAMM,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN

---

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION  
FILED JUNE 9, 2023  
IN CIRCUIT COURT FOR GRANT COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE ROBERT P. VANDEHEY, PRESIDING  
AND  
APPEAL FROM ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF  
FILED SEPTEMBER 17, 2024  
IN CIRCUIT COURT FOR GRANT COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE CRAIG R. DAY, PRESIDING  
  
TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 2020CM000026

---

Respectfully submitted,  
Anthony J. Pozorski Sr.

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

## VIII. ARGUMENT

## 1. THE DEFENSE DID NOT PROVE THAT THE STATE COMMITTED A DISCOVERY VIOLATION.

In *State v. Rice*, 2008 WI App 10, ¶14, 307 Wis. 2d 335, 342-343, the Court stated:

We analyze alleged discovery violations in three steps, each of which poses a question of law reviewed without deference. *State v. DeLao*, 2002 WI 49, ¶¶14-15, 252 Wis. 2d 289, 63 N.W.2d 480. First, we decide whether the State failed to disclose information it was required to disclose under Wis. Stat. § 971.23(1). Next, we decide whether the State had good cause for any failure to disclose under § 971.23(1). *Id.*, ¶15. Absent good cause, the undisclosed evidence must be excluded. However, if good cause exists, the circuit court may admit the evidence and grant other relief, such as a continuance. *Id.*, ¶ 51; Wis. Stat. § 971.23(7m). Finally, if evidence should have been excluded under the first two steps, we decide whether admission of the evidence was harmless. *DeLao*, 252 Wis. 2d 289, ¶ 59.

Section 971.23(1)(g), Wis. Stats., provides that the District Attorney shall within a reasonable time before trial disclose to the defendant any physical evidence that the District Attorney intends to offer in evidence at the trial.

Section 971.23(7m)(a), Wis. Stats., provides that the Court shall exclude any evidence not presented for inspection or copying unless good cause is shown for the

failure to comply. That statute also provides that the may in appropriate cases grant the opposing party a recess or a continuance.

In *State v. DeLao*, 2002 WI 49, ¶49, 252 Wis. 2d 289, 312, the Court stated:

As a general rule, the discovery to which a criminal defendant is entitled is limited to Constitutional and Statutory requirements. See *State v. O'Conner*, 77 Wis. 2d 261, 280 n.7, 252 N.W.2d 671 (1977). Thus, as the State asserts, this court has stated that the discovery statute "controls as to the rights of a defendant as to discovery and the procedures to be followed in enforcing such rights." *State v. Calhoun*, 67 Wis. 2d 204, 217, 226 N.W.2d 504 (1975).

In *State v. Rice*, 2008 WI App 10, ¶14, 307 Wis.2d at 342-343, the Court, when analyzing alleged discovery violations, stated:

First we decide whether the State failed to disclose information it was required to disclose under Wis. Stat. §971.23(1). Next, we decide whether the State had good cause for any failure to disclose under §971.23(1). *Id.*, ¶ 15. Absent good cause, the undisclosed evidence must be excluded. However, if good cause exists, the Circuit Court may admit the evidence and grant other relief, such as a continuance. *Id.*, ¶ 51; Wis. Stat. §971.23(7m). Finally, if evidence should have been excluded under the firsts two steps, we decide whether admission of the evidence was harmless. *DeLao*, 525 Wis. 2d 289, ¶ 59.

First of all, the Defense has not proven that there was a discovery violation. The criminal complaint gave the

defendant notice that there was video evidence. (R.2, p.1; App.1-2)

On February 18, 2020, Attorney Andrew J. Burdick, Assistant State Public Defender, filed a Demand for Discovery and Inspection. (R.10)

On February 19, 2020, the very next day, the State provided discovery to Attorney Burdick with a cover letter indicating that the discovery included 23 Pages and 1 Disk. (R.95; App.4)

On September 24, 2021, Attorney Andrew J. Burdick filed a Notice of Completion advising the Court of the termination of his representation of Ms. Kamm. (R.21)

There is nothing in the record which shows that between February 19, 2020, and September 24, 2021, more than a year and a half, Attorney Burdick had not received the disk. The case languished for approximately three years through no fault of the State and through no fault of the Trial Court.

On February 14, 2023, the Trial Court imposed a cash bond. (R.22)

On February 15, 2023, the State Public Defender's Office appointed Attorney Trevor A. Paulson to represent Ms. Kamm. (R.24)

On February 15, 2023, Attorney Paulson filed a Discovery Demand. (R.27) Having already provided discovery to the State Public Defender's Office, the State did not respond to the second Discovery Demand from the same law office.

On April 6, 2023, the Trial Court conducted a pretrial conference before proceeding with jury selection and a jury trial. (R.71) During the pretrial conference, Attorney Paulson informed the Court and the State, for the first time, that the Defense did not have the video evidence. (R.71, p.4; App.5) The Prosecutor responded that the State had provided Discovery. (R.71, p.4; App.5) The Trial Court on that date also pointed out to the Defense that the complaint referenced the video. (R.71, p.5; App.6) The Prosecutor also added at that time that the video evidence was referenced in the report. (R.71, p.6; App.7)

The Defense Attorneys were told via the Criminal Complaint that video evidence existed. (R.2; App.1-3) The report provided in Discovery also indicated that video evidence existed. The State sent Discovery to Attorney Burdick with a cover letter indicating that it was providing 23 Pages of materials and a Disk. (R.95; App.4)

The Trial Court at the postconviction motion hearing stated that it was the State's burden to prove that the

State complied with the Discovery statute. While *Rice*, 2008 WI App 10, ¶15, 307 Wis. 2d at 343, states that it is the State's burden to prove good cause for a Discovery violation, *Rice* does not state that the State has a burden with respect to the first element of the analysis, that the State did not commit a Discovery violation. *DeLao*, 2002 WI App 49 ¶51, 252 Wis. 2d at 13, also holds that the burden to show good cause for a Discovery violation rests with the State, but does not hold that the State has the burden to prove Discovery compliance.

Counsel argues that the State conceded the discovery violation at the post-conviction motion hearing when the Prosecutor stated the following:

Now, Attorney Paulson--right? Attorney Paulson says, well, you know, I had the paper material, but I didn't have the rest. Well, that can be easily explained in the sense that our office must have forgot to send them a copy of the disk. We sent them the paper, but we didn't send them a disk. So I'm not going to say he had it. I'm going to say I assumed he had discovery. But when he says he didn't get a copy of a disk, he didn't get a copy of the disk. (R.107, pp.10-11)

When the issue first arose, minutes before jury selection, the Prosecutor stated that the State had provided discovery to the Defense. The Prosecutor was not going to call Attorney Paulson a liar. Attorney Paulson

indicated that he did not have the disk or the videos and the Prosecutor assumed that he was telling the truth. The Prosecutor assumed that the State did not provide the disk. In the response brief to the Trial Court, the Prosecutor pointed out that the Court was correct that the State cannot state with certainty that the clips were provided prior to trial, but that short of a paper trail, it would almost always be impossible for an attorney's office to remember in detail each piece of discovery provided to the Defense. (R.94; App.9-10) The State made clear in its response brief to the Trial Court that the State was not conceding that the State committed a discovery violation in this case. (R.94; App.9) It is possible that the Prosecutor failed to provide the video clips to the Defense, but highly, very highly unlikely. The discovery letter to Attorney Burdick, sent one day after Attorney Burdick's discovery demand, described the discovery that was being provided and that it included 23 Pages of discovery materials and the Disk. (R.95; App.4) Attorney Burdick's representation of Ms. Kamm continued for more than a year and a half. The criminal complaint put the Defense on notice that here was video evidence and the report included in the discovery materials indicated that there was video evidence. Attorney Burdick never indicated that he did not

receive the video evidence. Because the State will still not call Attorney Paulson a liar, it is very likely that the State Public Defender's Office misplaced or lost the video evidence. Probably as a matter of standard operating procedure, Attorney Paulson filed a separate discovery demand on 2/15/2023. (R.25) Because Attorney Paulson was working in the same Public Defender's Office in Lancaster, Wisconsin, as Attorney Burdick and because the discovery materials had been previously provided to the Public Defender's Office in Lancaster, Wisconsin, the State did not duplicate its discovery response.

**2. IF THERE WAS A DISCOVERY VIOLATION, THE STATE HAD GOOD CAUSE AND THE TRIAL COURT GRANTED A RECESS PRIOR TO JURY SELECTION AND THE JURY TRIAL TO ALLOW THE DEFENSE TO REVIEW THE FIVE MINUTES OF VIDEO.**

If the State committed a Discovery violation, the next step in the analysis is to decide whether the State had good cause for any failure to disclose the discovery in question. In *Rice*, 2008 WI App 10 ¶15, n.4, 307 Wis. 2d at 343, the Court held that it did not need to decide whether the State violated its discovery obligation because good cause was shown for any potential discovery violation. The Trial Court presiding at the post-conviction motion hearing in this case, proceeded the same way. The Trial Court at

the motion hearing assumed there was an omission or a discovery violation, and held that the State had good cause for the violation.

The Trial Court for the motion hearing stated that although the Prosecutor is charged with the knowledge of what is in the law enforcement files and the files of the other State's witnesses, there is no authority for the proposition that the Prosecutor is charged with the knowledge of what's contained in the Defense file. The Trial Court further stated that it is the Defense Attorney's responsibility to know what's in the file. (R.111; App.16) Since it is the Defense Attorney's responsibility to know what is in the file, it is likewise the Defense Attorney's responsibility to know what is not in the file. The Prosecutor had no way of knowing that Attorney Paulson did not have the video clips. The Defense had notice of the video clips in the criminal complaint. One day after Attorney Burdick filed a Discovery Demand, the State provided discovery with a cover letter that indicated that the discovery included 23 Pages and 1 Disk. (R.95) The Defense was provided with the report in the discovery and the report referenced the video clips. The Trial Court at the post-conviction motion hearing concluded that even if there was a discovery violation, the State had

good cause because the State had no way of knowing that Attorney Paulson did not have the video clips. (R.111; App.17)

**3. THE TRIAL COURT COMPLIED WITH SECTION 971.23(7M)(A), AND GRANTED DEFENSE COUNSEL A RECESS TO REVIEW APPROXIMATELY FIVE MINTUES OF VIDEO.**

*Rice* and *DeLao* point out that if good cause exists for the discovery violation, evidence may still be admitted and the Trial Court can grant other relief. The Trial Court on the day of the jury selection and jury trial did just that. Section 971.23(7m)(a), Wis. Stats., provides that the Court may in appropriate circumstances grant the opposing party a recess or a continuance. The video evidence in this case amounted to about five minutes of video clips. (R.71, pp.5,6; App.6,7) The Trial Judge gave Attorney Paulson a recess to watch the five minutes of video evidence. (R.71, p.6; App.7) After watching the video evidence, Attorney Paulson informed the Trial Court that he was ready to proceed. (R.71, p.7; App.8) The Trial Court had every reason to believe that the recess it granted to the Defense prior to the commencement of the jury selection was adequate.

**4. INTRODUCTION OF THE VIDEO EVIDENCE WAS HARMLESS BECAUSE DEFENSE COUNSEL FOR THE TRIAL USED THE VIDEO EVIDENCE**

THAT WAS PRESENTED AND THE LACK OF VIDEO EVIDENCE TO THE  
DEFENDANT'S ADVANTAGE.

*Rice*, 2008 WI App 10, ¶14, 307 Wis. 2d at 343, the Court states, "Finally, if evidence should have been excluded under the first two steps, we decide whether admission of the evidence was harmless."

In *State v. Rocha-Mayo*, 2014 WI 57, ¶31, 355 Wis. 2d 85, 98, the Court stated, "Under Wisconsin Statutes and precedent, harmless error analysis is applicable to this case. Wisconsin Stat. § 805.18(2) provides,

No judgment shall be reversed or set aside or new trial granted in any action or proceeding on the ground of...the improper admission of evidence...unless in the opinion of the court to which the application is made, after an examination of the entire action or proceeding, it shall appear that the error complained of has affected the substantial rights of the party seeking to reverse or set aside the judgment, or to secure a new trial.

(Emphasis added.) Although Wis. Stat. § 805.18 specifically applies to civil procedure, this statute is applicable to criminal proceedings through Wis. Stat. § 972.11(1)."

Attorney Paulson indicated to the Court that he was ready to proceed.

As it turns out, the Defense was ready to proceed.

The State presented ten video clips (R.51) and the testimony of the Loss Prevention Manager. (R.71, pp.46-64)

In Appellant's brief (pp.12-13), the Appellant states:

It should be noted that when this witness refers to "the fitting room", he is referring to the area of the store where the fitting rooms are located. (71: 59-60) He is not referring to the actual fitting rooms, where cameras are not present. (71: 59-60) The State did not make this important distinction clear on direct examination. (71-49-50) On cross examination, the Defense pointed it out. (71: 59-60)

A Farm and Fleet employee testified that while cleaning the fitting rooms, he came across an empty box for a Milwaukee jacket. (R.71, pp.41-43, 45) The State charged Ms. Kamm with stealing a Milwaukee jacket. (R.2) As Attorney Paulson, Trial Counsel, pointed out, the video evidence did not show Ms. Kamm in the fitting room. Attorney Paulson elicited testimony from the Loss Prevention Manager that we didn't know whether Ms. Kamm actually went into an individual fitting room. (R.71, p.60) Attorney Paulson then called Ms. Kamm to the stand and elicited testimony from her that she never entered a fitting room. (R.71, p.76)

Therefore, Attorney Paulson was able to utilize the video evidence and the lack of video evidence to the defendant's advantage. The video evidence showed Ms. Kamm

went to the area of the fitting rooms, the video evidence did not show that she entered a fitting room, the box for the stolen Milwaukee jacket was found in a fitting room and Ms. Kamm testified that she never entered a fitting room.

Therefore, the admission of the video evidence was harmless to the Defense because the video evidence and lack of video evidence was utilized by Attorney Paulson to the defendant's advantage.

**5. THE DEFENSE ATTORNEY DID NOT PRESERVE THE ISSUE FOR APPEAL BY STATING HE WAS READY TO PROCEED WITH THE TRIAL.**

In *State v. Peters*, 166 Wis. 2d 168, 174 (Ct. App. 1991), the Court stated:

Whether a party objected to the admissibility of evidence in a manner sufficient to preserve the issue for appeal requires the application of Sec. 901.03910(a), Stats., to an undisputed set of facts. This is a question of law that we review de novo. *State v. Maloney*, 161 Wis. 2d 127, 128, 467 N.W.2d 215, 216 (Ct.App. 1991). In order to preserve his right to appeal on a question of admissibility of evidence, a defendant must apprise the trial court of the specific grounds upon which the objection is based. *Holmes v. State*, 76 Wis. 2d 259, 271, 251 N.W.2d 56, 62 (1997). General objections which do not indicate the grounds for inadmissibility will not suffice to preserve the objectors right to appeal. *Id.* To be sufficiently specific, an objector must reasonably advise the court of the basis for the objection. See *id.*

In *State v. Agnello*, 226 Wis. 2d 164, 172-173 (1999),  
the Court Stated:

The necessity of lodging an adequate objection to preserve an issue for appeal cannot be overstated. We have written on numerous occasions that in order to maintain an objection on appeal, the objector must articulate the specific grounds for the objection unless its basis is obvious from its context. *Id*; *State v. Caban*, 210 Wis. 2d 597, 604, 563 N.W. 2d 501 (1997); *State v. Marks*, 194 Wis. 2d 79, 88, 533 N.W.2d 730 (1995). This rule exists in large part so that both parties and courts have notice of the disputed issues as well as a fair opportunity to prepare and address them in a way that most efficiently uses judicial resources. *Corey J.G.*, 215 Wis. 2d at 404, 572 N.W.2d 845; *Caban*, 210 Wis. 2d at 605, 563 N.W.2d 501.

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